
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Friday, 17 June 2022 
 
 

ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE 
will meet on 

Monday, 27 June 2022 
beginning at 

6:00 pm 
in 

11/12/13 Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 
 
TO: Councillor Ian Corben (Chair) 
 Councillor Keith House (Vice-Chair) 
  

Councillor Tim Groves 
Councillor Liz Jarvis 
Councillor Louise Parker-Jones 
 

Councillor Tanya Park 
Councillor Derek Pretty 
 

 
 

Staff Contacts: Catherine Collins, Democratic Services Officer, 
catherine.collins@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

  
 
 

JOANNE CASSAR 
Executive Head of Governance 

 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
Please be aware that the filming, audio recording, photography and use of social media is 
permitted at meetings open to the public. We ask that you notify the Chair or Support 
Officers in advance so that all attendees can be notified, and reasonable facilities can be 
provided. More information can be found here. 
 
Please note that Councillors will be using tablet devices to access meeting papers. 
 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/11419/recording-photography-and-filming-of-ebc-meetings-final.pdf


AGENDA 
 

1.  Apologies  
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 3 - 4) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 2021. 
 

3.   Public Participation  
 
You can submit questions in advance of the meeting to the following email 
address: democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk. The deadline for submissions is 
12pm on Friday 24 June 2022. 
 
Please let us know if you wish to attend the meeting in person so that we can 
manage numbers.  We are still encouraging gall those in attendance to take a 
lateral flow test before attending the meeting.  PLEASE DO NOT ATTEND IF 
YOU HAVE ANY COVID-19 SYMPTOMS. 
 

4.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

5.  Appointment of Independent Remuneration Panel (Pages 5 - 28) 
 

6.  Code of Conduct - Annual Review (Pages 29 - 52) 
 

7.  Community Governance Review 2022/23 (Pages 53 - 62) 
 

 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Monday, 10 October 2022 at 6:00 pm 

In the Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, 
Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  
 

2

mailto:democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1 
 

 

ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 22 November 2021  (6:00 pm – 6:55 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Corben (Chair); Councillors Airey, Groves, Parker-Jones, Park 
and Pretty 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor House 
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

20. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 November 2021 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

21. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion. 
 

22. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

23. HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE POLICY AND CONDITIONS 
 
The Chair thanked the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trade for all the 
work they do. 
 
The Senior Licensing Officer presented the report. 
 
It was recommended that the Committee:  

(1) consider the contents of this report, appendices and any 
comments or representations made on the policy, Appendix 1; 

(2) adopt the Statement of Taxi Licensing Policy and appendices 
to commence from 1 January 2022, Appendix 1; 

(3) agree to delay the requirement for applicants for either 
hackney carriage driver or private hire driver licences to have 
passed an approved English and Maths test until an approved 
provider has been procured; 

(4) agree to delegate to the Legal Services Manager the authority 
to approve the standard of the tests in recommendation (3) and 
the date the policy will be applied; 

3

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

 

(5) adopt option 1, private hire identification sticker, along with 
the requirement for the private hire operator name and contact 
details to also be displayed on both near side and off side of 
all private hire vehicles, with delegation to the Legal Services 
Manager to agree the position of the identification stickers to 
be fixed to the vehicle. See page 12 of the private hire policy 
and conditions contained in Appendix 1. 

 
Councillor Parker-Jones requested clarity that on page 19, appendix one, 
section 3.3.2 the year should read 2022 and not 2021, and that at the end 
of the same paragraph it states ‘see 3.3.2’ as the paragraph underneath 
was also numbered 3.3.2. 
 
The Senior Licensing Officer confirmed that the year should read 2022 
instead of 2021, and that where the numbering is incorrect in the report it 
would be amended to show the correct numbering. 
 
Councillor Airey thanked officers for their work on the report, and the 
Licensed Transport Forum trade representatives for their positive 
contribution to the production of the document. He proposed a further 
amendment to the policy in respect of clarification regarding smart black 
jeans be included in the dress code. This amendment was seconded by 
Councillor Parker-Jones. 
 
The Senior Chartered Legal Executive suggested the amendment read as 
follows: 

 To amend the policy to read that smart black jeans be allowed 
that are not frayed, torn or with logos for the next 9 months as 
a concession which will then be reviewed after 9 months. 

 

RESOLVED –  
 
That the Committee AGREED the report subject to the amended 
Dress Code Policy. 
 
(NOTES: A written statement was read out from a member of the trade 
regarding the wearing of jeans as part of the dress code and comment on 
the proposed private hire door labelling. Two members of the trade spoke 
on Agenda Item 5 with comments on the proposed private hire door 
labelling.)  

4



 

 

27 June 2022 

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL  

Report of the Executive Head of Governance (Monitoring Officer) 

 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that the Administration Committee: 
 
(1) approves the appointment of the Independent Remuneration Panel for a 

period of 4 years and; 

(2) approves the Terms of Reference and timeline for the Independent 
Remuneration Panel review. 

 

Summary 
 
The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 requires the 
Council to establish and maintain an Independent Remuneration Panel to review Members 
Allowances every 4 years. 

Statutory Powers 
 
Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. Councillors are elected to represent local members of the public and work 
collectively to be the ultimate policy makers and conduct a number of strategic 
and corporate management functions. The Council is required to remunerate 
elected Councillors through an allowance scheme. Councillors should be fairly 
remunerated for their role and the scheme should include additional 
allowances for special responsibilities.  

Introduction 

2. Under the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 
2003, the Council is required to establish and maintain an Independent 
Remuneration Panel (the IRP). The Regulations require that the IRP shall 
consist of at least three members, none of whom is formally connected with 
the Council. 

5

Agenda Item 5



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

3. The Panel undertakes the task of formally reviewing the Councillors’ 
Allowances Scheme every 4 years. The Panel provides advice on its 
Councillors’ Allowance Scheme and the nature and level of allowances to be 
paid. The Council must have regard to this advice when reviewing or 
amending its scheme. No amendments can be made to the scheme without 
consideration by the IRP. 

4. An annual review is conducted by the Democratic Services Manager.  

Appointment of the Independent Remuneration Panel 

5. The Statutory Guidance on Councillors’ Allowances requires the Council to 
adopt an appointments process which best results in the Panel membership 
being truly independent and well-qualified to discharge its function.  

6. An advert was placed on the Council’s website in September 2021 and was 
available for approximately 3 months. A copy of the Recruitment Pack can be 
found at Appendix 1. The deadline for submission of applications was 
extended to early 2022. Three applications were received. In March 2022, the 
Monitoring Officer and Democratic Services Manager interviewed the three 
applicants: 

 Julie Byrom is currently the Independent Person for two Councils, one 
local and another in the north-east of England. Julie is a Board Member for 
the National Examining Board for Dental Nurses and a Dental Nurse 
Examiner.  

 Margaret Waller lives in Eastleigh and is a member of the Chartered 
Institute of Personnel and Development. Margaret has worked in district, 
city, London Borough and Metropolitan Borough Councils as well as 16 
years in Human Resources in the Police Service where she implemented a 
new pay and remuneration system.  

 Peter Williamson is an ex frontline Police Officer having left after 17 years 
due to injury on duty. He has lived within Eastleigh Borough all his life and 
is now a local business owner within multiple fields bringing specialist 
knowledge to certain private sectors. 

7. All three panel members are independent, have the right skills and attributes 
and are able to undertake the functions of the panel. It is recommended that 
this Committee agrees that they be appointed to form the Council’s 
Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) for a term of 4 years.  

8. The Panel met with the Executive Head of Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
and the Democratic Services Manager on the 7 June 2022 to discuss the 
Review of Councillor Allowances and as part of the discussion agreed; subject 
to the panel being appointment by this Committee, that Margaret Waller would 
be the Chair of the Independent Remuneration Panel.  

6



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Terms of Reference 

9. It is proposed that the IRP, if appointed, commence the Review of Councillors’ 
Allowances. Appendix Two provides the Terms of Reference and a suggested 
timeline for this review. 

10. This Committee is asked to approve the Terms of Reference and timeline.  

Financial Implications 

11. The IRP may make recommendations to this Committee to amend some/all 
allowances and any budget implications will be identified and reported for 
future approval.  

Risk Assessment 

12. To comply with legislative requirements, the Council must appoint an 
Independent Remuneration Panel made up of at least three persons to 
provide advice on the Councillors’ Allowance Scheme and formally conduct a 
review every four years.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

13. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it is a 
report making an appointment. However, as part of the review of allowances 
the panel will give due regard to equality and diversity implications when 
assessing the current scheme. 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

14. Climate Change and Environmental Implications are not relevant to the 
decision in this report as it is a report making an appointment to a panel.   

Conclusion 

15. It is recommended that this Committee approves the appointment of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel for a term of 4 years and the terms of 
reference and timescale for the Review of Councillor Allowances. 

 

JOANNE CASSAR 
  EXECUTIVE HEAD OF GOVERNANCE (MONITORING OFFICER) 
Date: 15 June 2022 
Contact Officer: Joanne Cassar 
Tel No: 02380 688015 
e-mail: Joanne.cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk  
Appendices Attached: Two  
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

7

mailto:Joanne.cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None 

8



RECRUITMENT PACK

1         

RECRUITMENT PACK FOR A MEMBER  
OF THE EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL

STATUTORY INDEPENDENT 
REMUNERATION PANEL 2021

RECRUITMENT PACK

1         

RECRUITMENT PACK FOR A MEMBER  
OF THE EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL

STATUTORY INDEPENDENT 
REMUNERATION PANEL 2021

9



RECRUITMENT PACK

      2

Contents

Making an application        4

About our Council          5

Our Political make-up        5

The role of the Independent Remuneration Panel   5

What exactly is the Panel’s job?      6

How many people will be appointed to the Panel?  6

What qualifications, skills and experience are  
required to be a member of the Panel?     7

What might disqualify me from being a Panel member?  9

What support would be provided to members of the Panel? 9

How often will the Panel have to meet and when  
and where will meetings be held?      9

Will I be able to claim expenses?      9

How to find out more       9

Disqualification for being a member of the statutory  
Independent Remuneration Panel     10

10



RECRUITMENT PACK

3         

DEAR APPLICANT
Application to serve as a Member of the Eastleigh Borough Council Statutory 
Independent Remuneration Panel.

Thank you for your recent enquiry about becoming a Member of the Independent 
Remuneration Panel. I am very pleased that you have expressed an interest in the 
position as we are looking to recruit a new Panel of independent members.

The appointment process is as follows: -
17 September 2021  Advertisement of Panel member applications
4 October 2021  Closing date for applications
8 October 2021  Selection process and notification to candidates
18 October 2021  Interviews
22 October 2021  Confirmation of panel membership

You must return the completed application form by close of business on  
4 October 2021, either by post (at the address shown below) or e-mail  
laura.johnston@eastleigh .gov.uk

Laura Johnston 
Democratic Services Manager 
Eastleigh Borough Council  
Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh 
Hampshire 
SO50 9YN

Your application will then be considered and a shortlist of candidates for interview 
will be produced. You will be notified if you have been shortlisted and invited for 
interview. The interviews will take place on 18 October 2021 via Microsoft Teams.

The interview process will not involve any other tests or activities. If you want to 
know anything more about the process, please contact Joanne Cassar  
023 8068 8015 or Laura Johnston 023 8068 8041/07876 217751

11



RECRUITMENT PACK

      4

Making an application 

We want to ensure that every applicant 
is treated fairly.  In making recruitment 
decisions we will not consider previous 
applications or our personal knowledge 
of you (if applicable).

The information that you supply us in 
your application must include all of the 
information requested. This is all we will 
use in deciding whether or not you will 
be shortlisted for the selection process.

It is therefore very important and the 
following advice is designed to help you 
complete it as effectively as possible.

The Person Specification (page 7) for 
the role outlines the skills, experience 
and aptitudes we are looking for.  
Wherever possible, please relate your 
own skills and experiences back to these 
requirements, giving specific examples of 
how you can demonstrate competence 
in these areas.

Please indicate why you are the right 
person for this role – remember to 
demonstrate why you are suitable 

against each of the points described in 
the Person Specification. This might be 
through qualifications or descriptive 
examples from your work/personal 
experience, (which clearly illustrates 
what you did and the effect it had).

We will shortlist for interview based on 
the information you provide; failure to 
include any of the requested information 
is likely to result in you not being 
shortlisted. Therefore, it is important 
that you indicate why you cannot meet 
any of the criteria, e.g. No work history, 
as I have never worked before.

Please also complete the equality and 
diversity monitoring form so that we 
 are able to monitor the effectiveness of 
our equality and diversity policies and to 
enable us to ensure that our recruitment 
processes are working for all sections of 
the community.

We will not accept CVs.

12



RECRUITMENT PACK

5         

About our Council  

At Eastleigh we are very proud of what 
we have achieved in recent years. As 
a medium-sized district council with a 
£65m turnover, big ambitions and strong 
and stable political leadership, we have 
delivered a range of major projects 
and initiatives ensuring we continue 
to be progressive and innovative in 
our approach. We are responsible for 
delivering a large number of services for 
our customers including planning, waste 
and recycling collections, environmental 
health, housing, elections, council tax and 
benefits to name but a few.

Our Political make-up 

Eastleigh Borough Council comprises 39 
councillors representing 14 Wards,  who 
are elected to determine the policies and 
priorities of a large and complex public 
body. The Borough also has 10 Parish 
Councils.

The breakdown of Councillors across 
political parties is currently as follows:

• Liberal Democrat Group – 32
• Independent Group – 5 
• Conservative Group – 2

Eastleigh Borough Council is controlled 
by the majority - the Liberal Democrat 
Group. 

The Council has adopted what is called 
the Leader and Executive model. This 
means that the Leader of the Council 
is elected by Full Council for a 4-year 
term. The Leader has responsibility 

to appoint an Executive or Cabinet 
and it is currently made up of seven 
Councillors. The Cabinet is responsible 
for implementing the budget and policy 
framework approved by the Council and 
must consider and make decisions on any 
matter of importance that affects more 
than one of the Cabinet portfolios.

Councillors undertake a wide range of 
roles and receive financial allowances in 
accordance with a Members’ Allowances 
Scheme which sets out the payments to 
be made for each role.

All Members of the Council receive a basic 
allowance that is intended to recognise 
the time commitment of Members, 
including such inevitable calls on their 
time as meetings with officers and 
constituents. Some Members are also 
paid a special responsibility allowance 
(SRA) to recognise significant additional 
responsibilities. SRAs are paid, for 
example, to Members of the Cabinet and 
Chairs of Committees. Expenses are also 
paid to offset the cost of travelling to 
meetings.

The role of the Independent 
Remuneration Panel

In accordance with relevant legislative 
requirements, the Council has established 
a statutory Independent Remuneration 
Panel.

This Independent Remuneration Panel 
provides the Council with advice on its 
Members’ Allowances Scheme and the 
nature and level of allowances to be paid. 
The Council must have regard to this 

13



RECRUITMENT PACK

      6

advice when reviewing or amending its 
scheme. No amendments can be made 
to a Council’s allowances scheme without 
consideration by the Independent 
Remuneration Panel.

.The last review of the scheme took place 
in the Autumn of 2017. The outcome of 
that review was reported to the Council’s 
Administration Committee on 25 June 
2018. There is now an opportunity for new 
members to join the Panel.

The Panel will initially meet to undertake 
its four-yearly review on the 2 and 3 
November via Microsoft Teams. The Panel 
is appointed for four years but should 
only be required to meet again should 
there be significant changes to the 
Council political management structure 
or if new councillor roles are created that 
have Special Responsibilities that may 
require an allowance.

A copy of the current Members’ 
Allowances  Scheme is available at  
www.Eastleigh.gov.uk

What exactly is the Panel’s job?

The statutory Independent Remuneration 
Panel’s role is to make recommendations 
to the Council:

• as to the amount of basic allowance 
that should be payable to its elected 
members;

• about the roles and responsibilities 
for which a special responsibility 
allowance should be payable and 
as to the amount of each such 
allowance;

• as to whether the Council’s 
allowances scheme should include 
an allowance in respect of the 
expenses of arranging for the care 
of children and dependants and, if 
such a recommendation is made, the 
amount of this allowance and the 
means by which it is determined;

• on other allowances (i.e. travel and 
subsistence allowance and allowances 
for attendance at certain meetings 
and conferences).

How many people will be 
appointed to the Panel?

The Panel must have at least three 
members. All panel members should 
be truly independent, qualified to 
undertake the functions of the panel and 
representative of the diverse communities 
of Eastleigh.

The Council has decided to set up a 
panel of members to serve for a four-year 
period (unless extended). We are currently 
seeking to appoint members.

14



RECRUITMENT PACK

7         

What qualifications, skills and 
experience are required to be a 
member of the Panel?

As well as being a resident of Eastleigh, 
or someone with very close links to the 
area, some of the key skills which are 
considered important to carry out the 
work of the Panel are set out below. This 
includes the ability to:
• read and assess information and 

identify key points/issues
• listen to and assess information and 

identify key points and issues
• ask questions in order to obtain 

information and open up discussion
• analyse information and use it to form 

opinions and conclusions
• work as part of a team
• communicate effectively with a wide 

range of people

It would be helpful (but not essential)  
if you have an understanding of 
• local government
• the functions of/and how the Council 

works
• the roles of councillors
• the regulations and guidance which 

apply to members’ allowances

The Council will provide some training 
in order to help you to develop the 
skills required and the Panel receives 
comprehensive support and advice from 
Council Officers. More important, Panel 
Members should be able to approach 
issues with an open mind and ask relevant 
questions.

A fuller list of the personal attributes 
required is set out in the Person 
Specification on the next page.

15



RECRUITMENT PACK

      8

FACTOR ESSENTIAL OR DESIRABLE MEANS OF 
ASSESSMENT Environment

Knowledge and experience

1
Knowledge of local government procedures, policies and 
practices

D
Application 
and interview

2
Some knowledge of Member activities & remuneration, 
knowledge of personnel/staff matters

D
Application 
and interview

3 Lives in Eastleigh or has strong links to the area E
Application 
and interview

Qualifications

4
A good standard of education, sufficient to understand reports 
and numerical information that might be complex 

E
Application 
and interview

Skills

5
Must be literate and numerate, sufficient to read reports and 
understand numerical information that might be complex

E
Application 
and interview

6 Effective and confident written and verbal communication skills E
Application 
and interview

7
Ability to contribute to, and work effectively with, other members 
of the Panel 

E
Application 
and interview

8
Capability of analysing moderately complex information, identify 
key issues, weigh up evidence and reach informed conclusions

E
Application 
and interview

9
Effective listening and questioning skills to identify key points and 
open up discussion

E
Application 
and interview

Personal attributes

10
Understanding of the importance of being seen to be working 
independently of the Council

E
Application 
and interview

11 Ability to deal tactfully and sensitively with a variety of people E Interview

12
Maintains high ethical standards, acts with integrity, respects 
confidentiality, takes responsibility for own actions

E
Application 
and interview

13 Impartial and non-political in approach E
Application 
and interview

14 Commitment to the needs of the local community E
Application 
and interview

15
Committed to undertaking background work in preparation  
for meetings

E Interview

16



RECRUITMENT PACK

9         

FACTOR ESSENTIAL OR DESIRABLE MEANS OF 
ASSESSMENT Environment

Knowledge and experience

1
Knowledge of local government procedures, policies and 
practices

D
Application 
and interview

2
Some knowledge of Member activities & remuneration, 
knowledge of personnel/staff matters

D
Application 
and interview

3 Lives in Eastleigh or has strong links to the area E
Application 
and interview

Qualifications

4
A good standard of education, sufficient to understand reports 
and numerical information that might be complex 

E
Application 
and interview

Skills

5
Must be literate and numerate, sufficient to read reports and 
understand numerical information that might be complex

E
Application 
and interview

6 Effective and confident written and verbal communication skills E
Application 
and interview

7
Ability to contribute to, and work effectively with, other members 
of the Panel 

E
Application 
and interview

8
Capability of analysing moderately complex information, identify 
key issues, weigh up evidence and reach informed conclusions

E
Application 
and interview

9
Effective listening and questioning skills to identify key points and 
open up discussion

E
Application 
and interview

Personal attributes

10
Understanding of the importance of being seen to be working 
independently of the Council

E
Application 
and interview

11 Ability to deal tactfully and sensitively with a variety of people E Interview

12
Maintains high ethical standards, acts with integrity, respects 
confidentiality, takes responsibility for own actions

E
Application 
and interview

13 Impartial and non-political in approach E
Application 
and interview

14 Commitment to the needs of the local community E
Application 
and interview

15
Committed to undertaking background work in preparation  
for meetings

E Interview

What might disqualify me 
from being a Panel member? 

The list of disqualifications is quite long 
and is attached to this document. You 
should read all of it before you submit 
your application. However, in summary 
there are some things that would 
disqualify you from becoming a Panel 
member: If you… 
• are an elected member of Eastleigh 

Borough Council or any of its Parish 
Councils

• are an employee of Eastleigh Borough 
Council 

• are an adjudged bankrupt 
• have been convicted in the last 5 

years for an offence with a sentence 
of imprisonment (whether suspended 
or not) for a period of not less than 3 
months without the option of a fine 

You will be required to declare that you 
are not associated with any political party 
or related to or a personal friend of any 
elected member of Eastleigh Borough 
Council. Any member of the Panel found 
guilty of a criminal offence would be 
removed from their role.

What support would be 
provided to members of the 
Panel?

The Council will provide administrative 
support and technical advice to the 
Panel. You will be briefed on the current 
members’ allowances scheme and 
be able to ask for information and 
research to be provided to assist you 
in reaching conclusions and making 

recommendations on the type and level 
of allowances payable to councillors in  
the future. You will also be encouraged to 
invite evidence from serving councillors.

How often will the Panel have 
to meet and when and where 
will meetings be held?

It is expected that the Panel will be 
required to meet for an initial two days 
on 2 and 3 November 2021 via Microsoft 
Teams and then if/when required. 
Sufficient notification will be given of any 
Panel meetings required.

Will I be able to claim 
expenses?

The council has agreed that Panel 
members should be entitled to an 
allowance of £200 for a Panel review.  
You would also be able to claim 
reasonable travel and subsistence costs in 
line with the rates payable to staff.

How to find out more

If you would like more information 
or an informal discussion about the 
Independent Remuneration Panel please 
contact Joanne Cassar, on 02380 688015 
(or email joanne.cassar@eastleigh.gov.
uk) or Laura Johnston (laura.johnston@
eastleigh.gov.uk) 023 8068 8041

17



RECRUITMENT PACK

      10

Disqualification for being a member of the statutory 
Independent Remuneration Panel

The definition of “local authority” includes parish councils.

Local Government Act 1972

80.  Disqualifications for election and holding office as member of a local authority. 

(1)  Subject to the provisions of section 81 below, a person shall be disqualified for being 
elected or being a member of a local authority if he – 

    (a)  holds any paid office or employment (other than the office of chairman, vice-
chairman or deputy chairman or, in the case of a local authority which are 
operating executive arrangements which involve a leader and cabinet executive, 
the office of executive leader or member of the executive) appointments or 
elections to which are or may be made or confirmed by the local authority or 
any committee or sub-committee of the authority or by a joint committee or 
National Park authority on which the authority are represented or by any person 
holding any such office or employment; or 

    (b)  is the subject of a bankruptcy restrictions order or interim order; or

    (c) [This has been removed and no longer applies]

    (d)  has within five years before the day of election or since his election been 
convicted in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man of 
any offence and has had passed on him a sentence of imprisonment (whether 
suspended or not) for a period of not less than three months without the option 
of a fine; or 

    (e)  is disqualified for being elected or for being a member of that authority 
under Part III of the Representation of the People Act 1983 or under the Audit 
Commission Act 1998.

(2)  Subject to the provisions of section 81 below, a paid officer of a local authority who 
is employed under the direction of – 

    (a)  a committee or sub-committee of the authority any member of which is 
appointed on the nomination of some other local authority; or 

    (b)  a joint board, joint authority, economic prosperity board, combined authority, 
joint waste authority or joint committee on which the authority are represented 
and any member of which is so appointed; shall be disqualified for being elected 
or being a member of that other local authority.

(2AA)  A paid member of staff of the Greater London Authority who is employed under 
the direction of a joint committee the membership of which includes – 

18



RECRUITMENT PACK

11         

         (a)  one or more persons appointed on the nomination of the Authority acting by 
the Mayor, and 

         (b)  one or more members of one or more London borough councils appointed to 
the committee on the nomination of those councils, shall be disqualified for 
being elected or being a member of any of those London borough councils.

(2A)   Subsection (2) above shall have effect as if the reference to a joint board included 
a reference to a National Park authority. 

(2B)   For the purposes of this section a local authority shall be treated as represented 
on a National Park authority if it is entitled to make any appointment of a local 
authority member of the National Park authority.

(3)       Subsection (1)(a) shall have effect in relation to a teacher in a school maintained 
by the local authority who does not hold an employment falling within that 
provision as it has effect in relation to a teacher in such a school who holds such 
an employment.

(5)      For the purposes of subsection (1)(d) above, the ordinary date on which 
the period allowed for making an appeal or application with respect to the 
conviction expires or, if such an appeal or application is made, the date on which 
the appeal or application is finally disposed of or abandoned or fails by reason of 
the non-prosecution thereof shall be deemed to be the date of the conviction.

81.     Exception to provisions of section 80

(4)     Section 80(2) and (3) above shall not operate so to disqualify –

          (a)  any person by reason of his being a teacher, or otherwise employed, in a 
school or other educational institution maintained or assisted by a county 
council for being a member of a district council by reason that the district 
council nominates members of the education committee of the county 
council

Local Government Act 2000

Persons disqualified by eligible tribunals. The following is the legislation that describes 
how persons disqualified by certain tribunals are disqualified from standing in local 
government elections.

78.     Decisions of the First-tier Tribunal or interim case tribunals 

(1)       In adjudicating on any of the matters which are the subject of an interim report, 
the First-tier Tribunal or an interim case tribunal must reach one of the following 
decisions—

19



RECRUITMENT PACK

      12

         (a)  that the person to whom the recommendation mentioned in section 65(3) 
or 72(3) relates should not be suspended or partially suspended from being a 
member or co-opted member of the relevant authority concerned,

         (b)  that person should be suspended or partially suspended from being a 
member or co-opted member of the relevant authority concerned for a 
period which does not exceed six months or (if shorter) the remainder of the 
person’s term of office.

(2)      If the decision of the tribunal concerned is as mentioned in subsection (1)(a), 
the tribunal must give notice of its decision to the standards committee of the 
relevant authority concerned.

(3)      If the decision of the tribunal concerned is as mentioned in subsection (1)(b), the 
tribunal must give notice to the standards committee of the relevant authority 
concerned stating that the person concerned is suspended or partially suspended 
for the period, and in the way, that the tribunal has decided.

(3A)    The effect of a notice given under subsection (3) is to suspend or partially 
suspend the person concerned as mentioned in subsection (3).

(4)       A decision of the First-tier Tribunal under this section shall not prevent an ethical  
11 standards officer from continuing with the investigation under section 59 
which gave rise to the interim report concerned and producing a report under 
section 64, or a further interim report under section 65, in respect of any matters 
which are the subject of the investigation.

(5)       A decision of an interim case tribunal under this section shall not prevent the 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales from continuing with the investigation 
under section 69 which gave rise to the interim report concerned and producing 
a report under section 71, or a further interim report under section 72, in respect 
of any matters which are the subject of the investigation. 

(6)       The suspension or partial suspension of any person under this section shall not 
extend beyond the day on which a notice is given by virtue of section 78A or 79 
to the standards committee of the relevant authority concerned with respect to 
that person.

(7)     A copy of any notice under this section must be given—

         (a) to any person who is the subject of the notice, and

         (b) to the monitoring officer of the relevant authority concerned.

(8)      Where the person concerned is no longer a member or co-opted member of the 
relevant authority concerned, but is a member or co-opted member of another 
relevant authority—

20



RECRUITMENT PACK

13         

         (a)  the references in subsection (1) to the relevant authority concerned are to be 
treated as references to that other authority,

         (b)  the references in subsections (2) and (7)(b) to the relevant authority 
concerned are to be treated as including a reference to that other relevant 
authority,

         (c)  the duty under subsection (3) to give notice to the standards committee of 
the relevant authority concerned is to be treated as a duty—

              (i)    to give that notice to the standards committee of that other relevant 
authority, and

              (ii)  to give a copy of that notice to the standards committee of the relevant 
authority concerned.

(8A)  Subsection (8) does not apply unless—

         (a)  where the relevant authority concerned is in England, the other relevant 
authority is also in England,

         (b)  where the relevant authority concerned is in Wales, the other relevant 
authority is also in Wales.

(9)      The First-tier Tribunal or (as the case may be) an interim case tribunal must take 
reasonable steps to inform any person who made any allegation which gave rise 
to the investigation under section 59 or 69 of its decision under this section.

(9A)    Where a person is suspended or partially suspended under this section by a 
decision of the First-tier Tribunal, the person may appeal to the Upper Tribunal—

         (a) against the suspension or partial suspension; or

         (b)  against the length of the suspension or partial suspension, (unless the 
decision is set aside under section 9 of the Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement 
Act 2007).

(9B)   An appeal may not be brought under subsection (9A) on a point of law (as to 
which see instead section 11 of the Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007).

(9C)   An appeal may be brought under subsection (9A) only if, on an application made 
by the person concerned, the First-tier Tribunal or Upper Tribunal has given its 
permission for the appeal to be brought.

(9D)   In any case where the Upper Tribunal is determining an appeal under subsection 
(9A), section 12(2) to (4) of the Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007 
(proceedings on appeal to the Upper Tribunal) apply.

21



RECRUITMENT PACK

      14

(10)     Where a person is suspended or partially suspended under this section by a 
decision of an interim case tribunal, the person may appeal to the High Court—

         (a) against the suspension or partial suspension, or

         (b) against the length of the suspension or partial suspension.

(11)      An appeal may not be brought under subsection (10) except with the leave of 
the High Court.

 78A. Decisions of First-tier Tribunal

[(1)    Deleted.]

(2)       Where the First-tier Tribunal adjudicates on any matter under this Act, it must 
decide whether or not any person to which that matter relates has failed to 
comply with the code of conduct of the relevant authority concerned.

(3)        Where the tribunal decides that a person has not failed to comply with the code 
of conduct of the relevant authority concerned, it must give notice to that effect 
to the standards committee of the relevant authority concerned.

(4)      Where the tribunal decides that a person has failed to comply with the code of 
conduct of the relevant authority concerned, it may—

         (a)  Take in respect of him any action authorised by regulations made by the 
Secretary of State for the purposes of this subsection, or

         (b) decide to take no action against him.

(5)     Regulations made under subsection (4) may in particular—

         (a) enable the tribunal to censure the person,

         (b)  enable it to suspend, or partially suspend, the person from being a member 
or co-opted member of the relevant authority concerned for a limited period,

         (c)  enable it to disqualify the person, for a period not exceeding five years, for 
being or becoming (whether by election or otherwise) a member of that or 
any other relevant authority.

(6)       The reference in subsection (5)(b) to the relevant authority concerned is to be 
read, in relation to a person who is no longer a member or co-opted member 
of the relevant authority concerned but is a member or co-opted member of 
another relevant authority in England, as a reference to that other relevant 
authority.

(7)       Regulations made by the Secretary of State may require the First-tier Tribunal to 
give a notice to the standards committee of the relevant authority concerned 

22



RECRUITMENT PACK

15         

where it decides that a person has failed to comply with the code of conduct of 
that authority and—

         (a) decides to suspend or partially suspend the person,

         (b) decides to disqualify the person,

         (c)  decides to take action against the person other than suspension, partial 
suspension or disqualification, or

         (d) decides to take no action against him.

(8)     Regulations under subsection (7) may—

         (a) prescribe the content of any notice,

         (b) provide for the effect that any notice is to have,

         (c)  provide for provisions of the regulations to have effect with prescribed 
modifications where the person concerned is no longer a member or co-opted 
member of the relevant authority concerned, but is a member or co-opted 
member of another relevant authority in England

 78B. Section 78A: supplementary

 (1)      A copy of any notice given under section 78A(3) or under regulations made under 
section 78A(7)—

         (a) must be given to the Standards Board for England,

         (b)  must be given to any person who is the subject of the decision to which the 
notice relates, and

         (c)  must be published in one or more newspapers circulating in the area of the 
relevant authority concerned.

(2)       Where the person concerned is no longer a member or co-opted member of the 
relevant authority concerned but is a member or co-opted member of another 
relevant authority in England, the following references to the relevant authority 
concerned are to be treated as including references to that other relevant 
authority—

         (a) the second reference in section 78A(3);

         (b) the reference in subsection (1)(c) above.

(3)      Where the First-tier Tribunal adjudicates on any matter under this Act, it must 
take reasonable steps to give notice of its decision to any person who made any 
allegation which gave rise to the adjudication.

23



RECRUITMENT PACK

      16

(4)       Where the First-tier Tribunal decides under section 78A that a person has failed 
to comply with the code of conduct of the relevant authority concerned, that 
person may appeal to the Upper Tribunal against that decision, or any other 
decision made by the tribunal by virtue of section 78A which relates to him 
(unless the decision is set aside under section 9 of the Tribunals, Courts and 
Enforcement Act 2007).

(5)      An appeal may not be brought under subsection (4) on a point of law (as to 
which see instead section 11 of the Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007).

(6)       An appeal may be brought under subsection (4) only if, on an application made 
by the person concerned, the First-tier Tribunal or Upper Tribunal has given its 
permission for the appeal to be brought.

(7)      In any case where the Upper Tribunal is determining an appeal under subsection 
(4), section 12(2) to (4) of the Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007 
(proceedings on appeal to the Upper Tribunal) apply.

79.    Decisions of case tribunals: Wales

(A1)     In this section “Welsh case tribunal” means a case tribunal drawn from the 
Adjudication Panel for Wales.

(1)      A Welsh case tribunal which adjudicates on any matter must decide whether or 
not any person to which that matter relates has failed to comply with the code 
of conduct of the relevant authority concerned.

(2)       Where a Welsh case tribunal decides that a person has not failed to comply with 
the code of conduct of the relevant authority concerned, it must give notice to 
that effect to the standards committee of the relevant authority concerned.

(3)       Where a Welsh case tribunal decides that a person has failed to comply with the 
code of conduct of the relevant authority concerned, it must decide whether the 
nature of the failure is such that the person should be suspended or disqualified 
in accordance with subsection (4).

(4)     A person may be—

         (a)  suspended or partially suspended from being a member or co-opted member 
of the relevant authority concerned, or

         (b)  disqualified for being, or becoming (whether by election or otherwise), a 
member of that or any other relevant authority.

(5)       Where a Welsh case tribunal makes such a decision as is mentioned in subsection 
(4)(a), it must decide the period for which the person should be suspended or 
partially suspended (which must not exceed one year or, if shorter, the remainder 
of the person’s term of office).

24



RECRUITMENT PACK

17         

(6)       Where a Welsh case tribunal makes such a decision as is mentioned in subsection 
(4)(b), it must decide the period for which the person should be disqualified 
(which must not exceed five years).

(7)       Where a Welsh case tribunal decides that a person has failed to comply with 
the code of conduct of the relevant authority concerned but should not be 
suspended or disqualified as mentioned in subsection (4), it must give notice to 
the standards committee of the relevant authority concerned—

         (a) stating that the person has failed to comply with that code of conduct, and

         (b) specifying the details of that failure.

(8)       Where a Welsh case tribunal decides that a person has failed to comply with the 
code of conduct of the relevant authority concerned and should be suspended 
or partially suspended as mentioned in subsection (4)(a), it must give notice to 
the standards committee of the relevant authority concerned—

         (a) stating that the person has failed to comply with that code of conduct,

         (b) specifying the details of that failure, and

         (c)  stating that the person is suspended or partially suspended for the period, 
and in the way, which the tribunal has decided.

(9)       The effect of a notice given to the standards committee of a relevant authority 
under subsection (8) is to suspend or partially suspend the person concerned as 
mentioned in subsection (8)(c).

(10)     Where a Welsh case tribunal decides that a person has failed to comply with the 
code of conduct of the relevant authority concerned and should be disqualified 
as mentioned in subsection (4)(b), it must give notice to the standards 
committee of the relevant authority concerned—

         (a) stating that the person has failed to comply with that code of conduct,

         (b) specifying the details of that failure, and

         (c)  stating that the person is disqualified for being, or becoming (whether by 
election or otherwise), a member of that or any other relevant authority for 
the period which the tribunal has decided.

(11)      The effect of a notice given to the standards committee of a relevant authority 
under subsection (10) is to disqualify the person concerned as mentioned in 
subsection (10)(c)

25



RECRUITMENT PACK

      18

(12)    A copy of any notice under this section—

         (a) must be given to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales,

         (b)  must be given to any person who is the subject of the decision to which the 
notice relates, and

         (c)  must be published in one or more newspapers circulating in the area of the 
relevant authority concerned.

(13)     Where the person concerned is no longer a member or co-opted member of the 
relevant authority concerned but is a member or co-opted member of another 
relevant authority in Wales—

         (a)  a copy of any notice under subsection (2), (7) or (10) must also be given to the 
standards committee of that other relevant authority,

         (b)  the reference in subsection (4)(a) to the relevant authority concerned is to be 
treated as a reference to that other relevant authority,

         (c)  the duty to give notice to the standards committee of the relevant authority 
concerned under subsection (8) is to be treated as a duty—

              (i)   to give that notice to the standards committee of that other relevant 
authority, and

              (ii)  to give a copy of that notice to the standards committee of the relevant 
authority concerned,

         (d)  the reference in subsection (12)(c) to the relevant authority concerned is to be 
treated as including a reference to that other relevant authority.

(14)     A Welsh case tribunal must take reasonable steps to inform any person who 
made any allegation which gave rise to the adjudication of the decision of the 
Welsh case tribunal under this section.

(15)    Where a Welsh case tribunal decides under this section that a person has failed 
to comply with the code of conduct of the relevant authority concerned, that 
person may appeal to the High Court against that decision, or any other decision 
under this section which relates to him.

(16)     An appeal may not be brought under subsection (15) except with the leave of the 
High Court.

26



Appendix 2 

Independent Remuneration Panel - Terms of Reference 

In accordance with The Local Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) 

Regulations 2003 [SI 2003 No 1021], the Panel shall make recommendations to be 

considered at the Council meeting on 17 November 2022, for the purpose of 

recommending adoption of a four year Councillor Allowance scheme: 

i. The amount of basic allowance that should be payable to its elected 

members and the expenses that it is deemed to include;  

ii. The responsibilities or duties which should lead to the payment of a 

special responsibility allowance (SRA) and as to the amount of such an 

allowance; 

iii. The duties for which a travelling and subsistence allowance can be paid 

and as to the amount of this allowance; 

iv. The co-optees to be paid a co-optees' allowance and the amount; 

v. Whether the authority's allowances scheme should include an allowance in 

respect of the expenses of arranging for the care of children and 

dependants and if it does make such a recommendation, the amount of 

this allowance and the means by which it is determined; 

vi. The implementation date for the recommendations, including whether any 

allowance should be backdated to the beginning of a financial year in the 

event of the scheme being amended as permitted in law; 

vii. Whether annual adjustments of allowance levels may be made by 

reference to an index, and, if so, for how long such a measure should run; 

viii. Any matters that are brought to the attention of the Panel in its 

consultation with Councillors and factual briefings from Officers.  

In arriving at their recommendations the Panel shall also take into account: 

 The views of Councillors both written and oral 

 Factual Briefings from Officers; 

 Allowances paid in comparable councils,  

 The Statutory Guidance on Regulation for Local Authority Allowances 

2006; 

 The 2003 Members’ Allowances Regulations; 

 Roles and Responsibilities as contained within the Council’s 

Constitution; 

 That recommendations should conform to existing legislation and 

anticipate likely future legislation so far as possible; 

 The requirement for their report and recommended changes to the 

scheme of allowances to be easy to understand and adequately 

justifiable to the electorate.  

 
The Independent Remuneration Panel shall be required in reporting its 

recommendations to include guidance on what is to be encompassed by each 

27



relevant allowance so as to ensure that the Councillors’ Allowance Scheme is 

consistently applied. 

The Independent Remuneration Panel shall appoint a Chair to lead the review. 

The Panel will ensure all information disclosed to them in the course of the review 

remains confidential and the panel will comply with requirements of the General 

Data Protection Regulations.  

 

Timeline for review: 

Date Action 

27 June 2022 Administration Committee – appointment of Panel  
 

28 June 2022 Letter to confirm appointment to Panel  
 

4 July – 29 July 2022 IRP Review – conducted through questionnaires 
and interviews of Councillors  

26 August 2022 Draft report to Democratic Services Manager and 
Monitoring Officer with recommendations  

30 August 2022 Circulate Draft IRP Report with circulation to 
include Leader and Chair of Administration 
Committee  
 

30 September 2022 Administration Committee Agenda dispatch  
 

10 October 2022 Administration Committee – to agree 
recommendations to put forward to Council  
 

17 November 2022 Full Council – decision on whether to adopt the 
revised scheme/recommendations of the Panel 

 

 

28



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE 

Monday 27 June 2022 

Code of Conduct – Annual Review 

Report of the Executive Head of Governance (Monitoring Officer) 

Recommendations: 

It is recommended that the Administration Committee: 
 

(1) Note the report and make any observations to the Monitoring Officer, and; 
 

(2) Note and agree the updates to the Code of Conduct Complaints Procedure. 

 

Summary 
 
In November 2021 the Council adopted a new Code of Conduct for dealing with standards 
matters as required by the Localism Act 2011. This included delegating the power to 
investigate complaints that a Councillor has breached the Code of Conduct to the 
Monitoring Officer. As part of this delegation, it was agreed that the Monitoring Officer 
report to the Administration Committee annually on complaints received and actions taken. 
This report covers the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022.  
 
The Monitoring Officer has also reviewed the process for dealing with Code of Conduct 
Complaints (Appendix 2) and additions have been made regarding the appointment of 
Independent Persons. The Administration Committee is asked to approve this revised 
Policy.  

Statutory Powers 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
Local Government Act 2000 
Section 28 Localism Act 2011 

 

Strategic Implications 

1. This report deals with the arrangements for Councillor Code of Conduct 
Complaints and their behaviours. Members of the public have a right to expect 
that all Councillors will behave professionally and appropriately. The role of a 
Councillor is a vital part of our system of democracy and underpins all that the 
Council does.  

29

Agenda Item 6



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Background 

2. All councils are legally required to appoint a Monitoring Officer in accordance 
with Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. The 
responsibilities of the Monitoring Officer are prescribed by the 1989 Act and 
the Local Government Act 2000 and are described in the Council’s 
Constitution and includes responsibility for investigating Code of Conduct 
Complaints. On 20 May 2021, Council appointed the Executive Head of 
Governance as the Monitoring Officer following the retirement of the previous 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
3. The Localism Act 2011 required local authorities to adopt new Codes of 

Conduct for governing the behaviour of Councillors and new procedures for 
dealing with complaints that Councillors have breached this Code of Conduct. 
The Code of Conduct for Councillors (section 5 of the Constitution) was 
reviewed and updated during 2021 and approved by Council on 11 November 
2021.  

 
4. The Monitoring Officer is required to report annually on the complaints 

received and the action taken.  
 

Code of Conduct Complaints 2021/22 

5. During the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022, 10 formal complaints in 
respect of Borough Councillors and two formal complaints regarding Parish 
Councillors were received. All were investigated by the Monitoring Officer in 
line with the “Process for dealing with complaint that a Councillor has breached 
the Code of Conduct”.  Where necessary the Monitoring Officer sought the 
views of the Independent Person (see paragraph 9 below for further 
explanation of this role). After investigation, one complaint was concluded as a 
breach of the Code of Conduct. The following table provides a summary of the 
number of complaints received during 2021/22. 

Ref Date Summary Outcome 

Complaints regarding the Conduct of Borough Councillors  

1  7 April 2021 Complaint about language 
used by Borough 
Councillor on social media 
tweet. 

No breach. Statement 
had been 
misinterpreted.  

 

2 17 May 2021 Complaint about a 
Borough Councillors 
residency and accuracy of 
Register of Interests. 

No breach. Residency 
requirement only needs 
to be satisfied at 
nomination and does 
not need to be 
maintained throughout 

30

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/10491/part-5-codes-and-protocols.pdf
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/1970/members-code-of-conduct-complaint.pdf
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/1970/members-code-of-conduct-complaint.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Ref Date Summary Outcome 

an elected Councillors 
term of office. 

Administrative error 
with regards to the 
Register of Interests 
which prompted full 
internal review of 
records.  

3 & 4 10 and 12 May 
2021 

2 formal complaints 
against two Borough 
Councillors regarding 
conduct on Social Media 
post in response to 
allegations that there had 
been a misadministration 
of the postal voting 
system. 

No breach however 
Councillors advised of 
complaint and asked to 
consider their 
responses carefully 
before responding on 
social media to avoid 
any misinterpretation. In 
addition, regular Social 
Media training will be 
provided to Councillors. 
Scheduled annually in 
the training programme. 

5 26 April 2021 Complaint against a 
Borough Councillor about 
bullying through responses 
provided to queries. 

No breach. Conclusion 
was complaint was a 
service complaint and 
Councillor was 
repeating the technical, 
legal and data 
protection advice of 
Officers. 

6 23 September 
2021 

Complaint that a Borough 
Councillor had breached 
the Code of Conduct: 

(2.2) Respect other and 
not bully a person. 

(2.5)   Not conduct 
yourself in a 
manner which is 
likely to bring the 
Authority into 
disrepute. 

Insufficient evidence to 
determine if there was a 
breach. Investigation 
closed.  

 

  

7 15 November Concern that a Borough 
Councillor may have 

No breach of Code of 
Conduct or 

31



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Ref Date Summary Outcome 

2021 breached the Code of 
Conduct and Safeguarding 
through sharing a social 
media post. 

Safeguarding. 
However, as a helpful 
reminder Guidance on 
the Use of Social Media 
for Councillors shared 
with all Councillors 19 
November 2021. 

8 14 January 2022 Concern that a Borough 
Councillor had breached 
the Code of Conduct 
through conduct during a 
meeting and that the 
decisions taken by a 
Committee of the Council 
breached various 
legislation. 

No breach. No 
evidence to support any 
allegations of 
misconduct and a 
Councillor cannot be 
liable for the decision of 
a committee and not a 
matter that can be 
investigated as a 
Breach of the Code of 
Conduct. Complainant 
advised decision was 
lawful and of process to 
follow to challenge 
decisions.  

9 28 February 2022 Complaint that a Councillor 
had breached the Code of 
Conduct during an online 
briefing through 
inappropriate and offensive 
language aimed at a fellow 
Councillor. 

Breach of the Code of 
Conduct. Letter placed 
on file. Councillor asked 
to apologise and 
reminded of the 
Council’s zero tolerance 
to the behaviour.  

10 12 March 2022 Complaint that a Borough 
Councillor had breached 
the Code of Conduct 
through covert recording of 
a meeting, disclosing 
information provided 
during a confidential 
briefing and disclosing the 
contents of an email 
marked private and 
confidential. 

 

No breach. Guidance 
provided for staff and 
Councillors on the 
recording of internal 
meetings and meeting 
etiquette.  

Complaints regarding the Conduct of Parish Councillors 

32



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Ref Date Summary Outcome 

1 19 November 
2021 

Complaint that a Parish 
Councillor had breached 
the Code of Conduct 
through failing to properly 
investigate a complaint. 

No breach. 
Complainant advised 
that a complaint 
regarding a Parish 
Council not following its 
Complaints Policy was 
not a matter that could 
be investigated as a 
Breach of the Code of 
Conduct. Matter 
referred to the Parish 
Council.  

2 15 February 2022 Complaint of failure in 
following due process and 
standing orders and lack of 
openness, transparency 
and accountability in 
accordance with the Nolan 
Principles for Public Office.  

No breach. 
Complainant advised 
that a complaint 
alleging that a Parish 
Council had not 
followed due process 
on a decision that had 
been taken was not a 
matter that could be 
investigated as a 
breach of the Code of 
Conduct. Matter 
referred to the Parish 
Council.  

 

Code of Conduct Complaints Procedure 

6. The Council adopted a Code of Conducts Complaint Procedure in 2012 and is 
published on the Council’s website: 

 
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/1970/members-code-of-conduct-
complaint.pdf  
 

7. It should be noted that the Local Government Association (LGA) produced a 
Model Councillor Code of Conduct in December 2020 that was updated in 
January and May 2021. Although the Council has not adopted the LGA Model 
Code, some principles and elements of the Code were included within the 
revised Code of Conduct which was adopted by Council in November 2021. 
The LGA also produced Guidance on Member Code of Conduct Complaints 
Handling and this guidance has been considered when reviewing the 
Procedure.   

 

33

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/1970/members-code-of-conduct-complaint.pdf
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/1970/members-code-of-conduct-complaint.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Local%20Government%20Association%20Model%20Councillor%20Code%20of%20Conduct%202020%20WEB.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

8. The Monitoring Officer, Deputy Monitoring Officers and Independent Persons 
met on 7 June 2022 to review and reflect on the Code of Conduct complaints 
made during 2021/22 to: 

 determine if any further action was necessary to address behaviours, 
for example further training; and 

 to reflect on the LGA guidance and agree, where appropriate, revisions 
to the Code of Conduct Complaints Procedure.  

 
9. The following changes have been made to the procedure: 

 References to him/his/he updated to them/their/they; 

 References to Member updated to Councillor; 

 New headings 

 New Paragraph 2 (introduction) 

 New paragraph 3 

 New paragraph 4  

 New paragraph 5  

 New paragraph 6  

 Paragraph 7a – within its legal jurisdiction added to the sentence 

 Paragraph 9 – updated a) to k) in line with LGA guidance  

 New Paragraph 11  

 New Paragraph 12 

 Paragraph 13 – New sentence added “There is no right of appeal 
against a decision not to take any further action”.  

 New paragraphs 14 – 17 regarding Informal Resolution   

 Paragraph 18 – additional sentence – “Councillors are required to 
cooperate with any Code of Conduct Investigation and respect the 
impartiality of officers and the Independent Person”. 

 Clarification that only 1 Independent Person will be consulted during an 
investigation (paragraph 19) 

 Paragraph 19 - New sentence “The subject of the complaint 
(Councillor) has a right to consult with the Independent Person.  

 New paragraph 20 

 Paragraph 21 – 3 additional bullet points (2nd, 6th, 10th) 

 Inclusion of annex 1 (complaint form) and annex 2 (the Protocol for the 
Independent Person(s)); 

 Reference to the LGA Guidance where appropriate.  
 

Independent Persons  

10. The Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to appoint at least one 

Independent Person to assist, where necessary, the Monitoring Officer, as a 

consultee, during the pre-investigation, investigation, pre-hearing and hearing 

process.  

 

11. The Council currently has appointed two independent persons.  

 

34



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

12. A protocol for the Independent Person has been drafted and included as 
annex 2 of the Code of Conduct Complaint Process (appendix 1).  
 

13. It is recommended that this Committee endorses and approves the Code of 
Conduct Complaints Procedure and Independent Persons Protocol. 
 

Councillor Development 

14. In 2017, the Independent Review Panel considered that certain training 
courses, specifically those on development control, finance and 
standards/codes of conduct/ethical framework, would be mandatory for all 
Councillors. The Council agreed that training in these areas is important and 
all Councillors are encouraged to attend. The training and development 
attended by Councillors during 2022/23 will be monitored by the Democratic 
Services Manager and periodically reported to the Chair and Vice-Chair of this 
Committee.   

Meeting Attendance 

15. Councillors are democratically accountable to members of the public and 
agree to follow the Code of Conduct to ensure high standards in the way they 
undertake their duties. There is an expectation by members of the public that 
their elected representative will participate in scrutiny and decision making 
arrangements by regularly attending meetings of Council, Committees and 
Panels. Appendix 2 provides an overview of attendance to meetings during 
2021/22. 

 
16. A Councillor ceases to be a Member of the Council if they fail to attend a 

meeting of the Borough Council, its Committees, Outside Body or Joint 
Committee to which they are appointed for a period of six consecutive months 
commencing on the date of last attendance, unless the period of absence is 
approved by the Council prior to the expiry of that period.  

 
17. In September 2021, the Administrative Committee agreed to a suspension 

pursuant to Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972, of the six-month 
Councillor attendance rule, until the Council Annual General Meeting in May 
2022 as a result of illness, social distancing, self-isolation or shielding as a 
consequence of the Covid-19 epidemic. This dispensation ceased in May 
2022. It was agreed that any other attendance dispensations relating to non-
covid matters would need to be considered separately by the Administration 
Committee. The Monitoring Officer can confirm that no other dispensation or 
reviews of attendance were required during 2021/22 and no Councillor failed to 
attend a meeting for a period of six consecutive months.  

Financial Implications 

18. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  
 

35



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Equality and Diversity Implications 
 

19. The Equality Act is considered as part of any Code of Conduct review. 
Although therefore relevant, on this occasion it has not been necessary to 
conduct an Equality Impact Assessment. 

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

20. There are no proposals within this report to assess with regard to climate 
change and environmental implications.  

Conclusion 

21. Councillors are invited to note the contents of this report and highlight any 
observations to the Monitoring Officer and approve the revised procedure for 
Code of Conduct Complaints.  

 
 

 
JOANNE CASSAR   

EXECUTIVE HEAD OF GOVERNANCE (MONITORING OFFICER) 
 

 
Date: 16 June 2022 
Contact Officer: Joanne Cassar 
Tel No: 023 8068 8015 
E-mail: joanne.cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk  
Appendices Attached: two 
 

36

mailto:joanne.cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk


Process for Dealing with a Complaint that a Councillor or Co-opted Councillor 
has Breached the Code of Conduct 
 
1. The Monitoring Officer is appointed the proper officer to receive all complaints 

that a Councillor has breached the Code of Conduct and all complaints should be 

sent to:  

 

 The Monitoring Officer 

Eastleigh Borough Council 

Eastleigh 

House Upper 

Market Street 

Eastleigh   

Hampshire 

SO50 9YN 

 

Or email: 

Joanne.Cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk  

 
Introduction 
 
2. The system of regulation of standards of councillor conduct in England is 

governed by the Localism Act 2011. Local authorities must have a Code of 
Conduct for Councillors, which must be consistent with the “Seven Principles of 
Public Life”. Councillors are accountable and all must adopt the behaviours and 
responsibilities associated with the role.  
 

3. Anyone who considers that a Borough or Parish Councillor may have breached 
the Code of Conduct may make a complaint to the Monitoring Officer.  

 
Process  
 
4. A complaint should be submitted ideally using the form attached in Annex 1. 

When a complaint is received the Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt and 
set out the process to be taken to assess the complaint with an agreed timescale. 
 

5. The Monitoring Officer may also notify the Councillor whom is the subject of the 
complaint, that a complaint has been received and invite their comments on it 
usually within 10 working days. In deciding whether or not to notify the subject 
member they would need to weigh up different factors. For example, would telling 
the subject member risk that the complainant may be intimidated or evidence 
destroyed, or if the complaint seems to fall outside of the jurisdiction of the Code 
is there any need to hear from the councillor? However, the presumption would 
normally be to invite the subject member to comment as this can help the 
Monitoring Officer to decide whether a matter can be dealt with informally without 
the need for a formal investigation. 

 

6. If the Monitoring Officer does tell the subject member about the complaint, they 
will need to be satisfied that they have the legal power to disclose the information 
they choose to reveal. Additionally, the impact of the Data Protection Act 2018 
and UK General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) should be considered to 
ensure that any personal data is processed fairly and lawfully at every stage of the 37

mailto:Joanne.Cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/councillors-meetings-and-decision-making/our-constitution
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/councillors-meetings-and-decision-making/our-constitution


process. Reasonable expectations of privacy need to be balanced against the 
public interest. 
 

7. Once a complaint has received it will be checked to ensure that it: 
 

a)  Can be dealt with by the Council (within its legal jurisdiction) (or is it a 
criminal offence which should be referred to the Police); 

 
b)  Is a complaint about a Councillor of Eastleigh Borough Council or a 

Councillor of one of the parish or town councils in the Borough; 
 

c)  Does relate to a section(s) of the relevant Code of Conduct. 
 
8. If a complaint does not comply with any of the above the Monitoring Officer will 

write to the complainant to advise why the complaint cannot be dealt with under 
the Council’s procedure for complaints that a Councillor has breached the Code 
of Conduct. 

 
9. If the complaint satisfies the criteria above it will be considered by the Monitoring 

Officer using the following initial assessment of complaints as a guide: 

a) Does the complaint contain sufficient evidence to demonstrate a potential 
breach of the Code?; 

b) Are there alternative, more appropriate, remedies that should be 
explored first?; 

c) Where the complaint is by one councillor against another, a greater 
allowance for robust political debate (but not personal abuse) may be 
given, bearing in mind the right to freedom of expression; 

d) Is the complaint in the view of the authority malicious, politically 
motivated, or ‘tit for tat’; 

e) Whether an investigation would not be in the public interest or the matter, 
even if proven, would not be serious enough to warrant any sanction 
(see guidance on hearings); 

f) Whether a substantially similar complaint has previously been 
considered and no new material evidence has been submitted within the 
current administration; 

g) Whether a substantially similar complaint has been submitted and 
accepted; 

h) Does the complaint relate to conduct in the distant past? This would 
include consideration or any reason why there had been a delay in 
making the complaint; 

i) Was the behaviour that is the subject of the complaint already dealt with? 
For example, through an apology at the relevant meeting; 

j) Does the complaint actually relate to dissatisfaction with a local authority 
decision rather than the specific conduct of an individual?;  

k) Is it about someone who is no longer a councillor or who is seriously ill? 

10. The Monitoring Officer may decide to contact the complainant and the subject of 
the complaint to try to resolve the complaint informally.  

 

11. The Monitoring Officer should aim to complete their initial assessment of the 
allegation within 15 working days of receiving the complaint.   

 
38



12. The Monitoring Officer may reach one of the three following decisions on an 
allegation: 

 

 No further action should be taken on the allegation; 

 The matter should be dealt with through a process of informal resolution 
in the first instance or;  

 The matter should be referred for formal investigation. 
 

13. If, at this stage, the Monitoring Officer decides that no action be taken or that it 
be referred to another authority, notification, in writing, will be given to the 
complainant, the subject of the complaint and any other relevant authority 
(including the town or parish council if the subject of the complaint is a town or 
parish councillor) if appropriate. There is no right of appeal against a decision 
not to take any further action.  
 

14. If, the Monitoring Officer decides that they should seek to resolve the matter 
informally as a more proportionate way of dealing with relatively minor 
allegations, one-off incidents or underlying disagreements between individuals 
they will seek the views of the Independent Person before taking such a course 
of action. The Monitoring officer must balance the interest of resolving the matter 
quickly and satisfactorily against the interest in the complainant having their 
complaint upheld or the Councillor’s desire to clear their name.  

 

15. Complaints should not be referred for informal resolution when the Monitoring 
Officer believes an investigation is in the public interest, for example because of 
the seriousness of the allegations or because it demonstrates a pattern of 
behaviour. In addition, an allegation which challenges the Councillor’s honesty 
or integrity may be better dealt with as a formal investigation because of the 
potential reputational issues.  

 

16. It may be appropriate to seek an informal resolution part way through a formal 
investigation rather than completing the investigation if it becomes clear the 
matter could be resolved amicably. In this case the view of the Independent 
Person must be sought before halting or pausing a formal investigation.  

 

17. When informal resolution has been completed, the Monitoring Officer will notify 
the Councillor, the complainant, the relevant Independent Person and the town 
or parish council if relevant.  
 

18. If, after considering the complaint, and any other relevant matters, the Monitoring 
Officer decides that the complaint merits formal investigation they must make the 
necessary arrangements for this to be carried out. They will write to the 
complainant, the subject of the complaint and the parish or town council if 
relevant advising that an investigation will take place. Councillors are required to 
cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and respect the impartiality of 
officers and the Independent Person.  

 

19. The Monitoring Officer function (including the Deputy Monitoring Officer) will 
review every complaint received and may, at their discretion, consult one of the 
Independent Persons in line with the Protocol for the Independent Person 
(annex 2). In carrying out an investigation all complaints will be assessed on a 
case by case basis and relevant guidance and professional advice will be taken 
into account. The subject of the complaint (Councillor) has a right to consult with 
the Independent Person. 

39



 

20. When a matter is referred for formal investigation or other action, it does not 
mean that a decision has been made about the validity of the allegation. It 
simply means that the Council believes the alleged conduct, if proven, may 
amount to a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct and that some action 
should be taken in response to the complaint. 

 

21. Once the Monitoring Officer has completed their investigation they will produce a 
written summary of their findings. This will include whether they agree that the 
Code of Conduct has been breached or not. Where the Monitoring Officer finds 
that the Code has been breached they may or may not take action or refer the 
matter to a sub-Committee of the Administration Committee for a decision on 
appropriate action. Action that can be taken includes: 

 
 reporting findings to Council and/or to the relevant Parish/Town Council; 

 Referring the matter to the Councillor’s Group Leader; 

 making recommendations to the relevant Group Leader to remove the 
Councillor from Committees of the Council; 

 making recommendations to the Leader of the Council that the Councillor be 
removed from the Cabinet, or from particular Portfolio responsibilities; 

 recommending further training for the Councillor; 

 The Councillor being required to meet with the Monitoring Officer and/or 
other Chief Officers; 

 recommending to the Council or relevant Committee or relevant Parish/Town 
Council that the Member be removed from outside bodies; 

 withdrawing facilities provided by the Council or recommending that the 
relevant Parish/Town Council withdraw facilities such as a computer and/or 
internet access; and/ or; 

 excluding the Councillor from the Council’s offices or other premises or 
recommending that the Parish/Town Council exclude the Councillor from the 
parish/town council office or other premises (except for meeting rooms for 
attendance at meetings);  

 such other action as is considered appropriate by the Monitoring Officer and 
Independent Person(s). 

 
 

22. Once an investigation has been completed and a decision made to take no action 
or suitable action this will be published on the Council’s website, unless there are 
reasons within legislation to keep the information confidential. The Monitoring 
Officer will also write to the complainant, the subject of the complaint and the 
parish or town council if relevant providing details of the outcome. 
 

23. There is no ability to appeal against a decision made by the Monitoring Officer, the 
Administration Committee or its sub-committee. Further action may be pursued, 
where relevant, with the Ombudsman or by way of judicial review. 

 

24. The Monitoring Officer will produce an annual report for consideration by the 
Administration Committee providing details of all complaints received (excluding 
any details deemed confidential in law) and action taken. The Administration 
Committee can request interim reports or details of a specific compliant at any 
time. 

 

40



25. If, at any stage, there is insufficient detail for the Monitoring Officer to effectively 
deal with the complaint, they can go back to the complainant or approach the 
subject of the complaint or other parties to request further information. 

 

26. If, at any stage, the Monitoring Officer feels it is inappropriate for them to deal 
with a complaint they can refer it to the Deputy Monitoring Officer, Chief 
Executive or a sub-committee of the Administration Committee for 
consideration. 

 

27. The Monitoring Officer may authorise any officer of the Council or other 
appropriate person to carry out investigations on their behalf. 

 

28. The Council and the subject of a complaint may at any stage seek the views of 
the Council’s Independent Person about the complaint.  

 
ADMINISTRATION SUB-COMMITTEE 
 
29. Where the Monitoring Officer refers a matter to a sub-committee of the 

Administration Committee that sub-committee will be made up of three Members 
of the Administration Committee, excluding group leaders and, where possible, 
including at least one Councillor who is from a different political party to the 
Councillor who is the subject of the complaint. One Councillor will be elected 
chair of the sub-committee. 

 
30. The meeting of the sub-committee will be attended by the Monitoring Officer or 

their representative, the Independent Person, the subject of the complaint, the 
complainant and any other person relevant to the complaint. The subject of the 
complaint and the complainant may make written submissions to the sub-
committee prior to the meeting and they may make representations at the 
meeting of the sub-committee where it is felt that this would add to any written 
submissions. Written and oral submissions must relate directly to the complaint 
being dealt with. The cost of attendance/making representations must be borne 
by the party concerned. 

 
Procedure: 

31. At a meeting of the sub-committee of the Administration Committee the 
following procedure will be followed: 

a) The complainant may address the sub-committee and call witnesses (if any).  

b) The subject of the complaint may ask the complainant and witnesses 
questions. 
 

c) The sub-committee and Independent Person can ask the complainant and 
witnesses questions. 
 
 

d) The subject of the complaint can address the Panel and call witnesses (if any). 
 
 

e) The complainant can ask the subject of the complaint and witnesses questions. 
 
 

f) The sub-committee and Independent Person can ask the subject of the 
complaint and witnesses questions. 
 

g) The complainant can make a closing statement. 
41



 
h) The subject of the complaint can make a closing statement. 

 
i) All those present except the sub-committee, the Independent Person, the 

Monitoring Officer or their representative and clerk will leave to room while the 
Councillors of the sub-committee makes its decision. The sub-committee’s 
decision will be announced orally as soon as possible. 
 

j) A written report of the meeting and decision, with reasons, will be prepared, 
usually within 5 working days. A copy will be sent to all those present and to the 
Clerk of the Parish/Town Council if the complaint was about a Parish/Town 
Councillor. The written report will be available for public inspection. 

 

NOTE: In this procedure note where it states ‘Monitoring Officer’ in their 
absence this includes the Deputy Monitoring Officer; where it states Councillor 
this includes all Councillors or Co-opted Members of Eastleigh Borough Council 
and of any of the town and parish councils in the Borough; where it refers to the 
Code of Conduct it means the relevant Code of Conduct for the authority that 
the Councillor or Co-opted Councillor belongs. 

42



Complaint Flow Chart 
 

 
Complaint received 

Is it within the Council’s remit, is it about a 
Councillor, does it relate to the Code of 

Conduct? 
 

 

No Yes 
 

No action Write to 

the complainant to 
advise 

Monitoring Officer to decide 
whether to investigate 

Informal 

Resolution?
Consult with IP 
before making 
any decision 

 

 
 
 
 

No action Write 

to the complainant, 
subject of the 
complaint & 

relevant parish council 
to advise 

Yes -Write to parties to 

No advise & include right of the 

Councillor being 

complained about to 

consult with the IP 
 

 

 
Formal Investigation 

Consult with IP before making any decision 
 

No action Write to 

the complainant, 
subject of the 
complaint & 

relevant parish council 
to advise and 

publish on the website 
 
 

No action Write 

to the complainant, 
subject of the 
complaint & 

relevant parish council 
to advise and 

publish on the website 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Complaint upheld 

 
 
 

MO takes action 
MO refers to Admin sub- 

committee 
Recommending action to take 

 

 
 
 

Decision published on website 
and write to the complainant, subject of the 

complaint & relevant parish council to advise 
 
 
 

No right of appeal 
43



ANNEX 1  

 
BREACH OF THE CODE OF CONDUCT - COMPLAINT FORM 
 

Making your Complaint 

Alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct Complaints must be submitted in 

writing, ideally on this form. This includes fax and electronic submissions. 

However, in line with the requirements of the Disability Discrimination Act 

2000, we can make reasonable adjustments to assist you if you have a 

disability that prevents you from making your complaint in writing.  

 

We can also help if English is not your first language.  

 

If you need any support in completing this form, please let us know as soon as 

possible. 

 

Joanne Cassar 

Executive Head of Governance and Monitoring Officer 

Eastleigh Borough Council 

Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street 

Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 

Phone: 023 8068 8015 

Email: joanne.cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk   

 

Your details 

1. Please provide us with your name and contact details 

Title:       

First name:       

Last name:       

Address:       

 

 

Daytime 

telephone: 

      

Evening 

telephone: 

      
44

mailto:joanne.cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk


Mobile 

telephone: 

      

Email 

address: 

      

Your address and contact details will not usually be released unless it is necessary 

to do so because of the nature of the complaint.  

However, we may tell the following people, as appropriate, that you have made this 

complaint: 

 the member(s) you are complaining about 
 the monitoring officer of the authority 
 the parish or town clerk (if applicable) 
 
We may tell them your name and give them a summary of your complaint. We may give 

them full details of your complaint where necessary or appropriate to be able to deal with 

it. If you have serious concerns about your name and a summary, or details of your 

complaint being released, please complete section 5 of this form.  

2. Please tell us  which complainant type best describes you: 

 

 Member of the public 

 An elected or co-opted member of an authority 

 Member of Parliament 

 Local authority monitoring officer 

 Other council officer or authority employee  

 Parish Council representative 

 Other (     ) 

 

What you need to do 

3. Please provide us with the name of the member(s) you believe have breached the Code 
of Conduct and the name of their authority: 

 

Title First 

name 

Last 

name 

Council or authority 

name 

                        

                        

                        

                        

 

45



4. Please explain in this section (or on separate sheets) what the member has done that 
you believe breaches the Code of Conduct. If you are complaining about more than one 
member you should clearly explain what each individual person has done that you 
believe breaches the Code of Conduct. 

 

It is important that you provide all the information you wish to have taken into account. 

For example: 

 You should be specific wherever possible about exactly what you are alleging the 
member said or did. For instance, instead of writing that the member insulted you, you 
should state/quote what was said. 

 You should provide the date/times of the alleged incidents wherever possible. If you 
cannot provide exact dates it is important to give a general timeframe.  

 You should confirm whether there are any witnesses to the alleged conduct and provide 
their names and contact details if possible. 

 You should provide any relevant background information or firm evidence to support 
your complaint.  

 

Please provide us with the details of your complaint. Continue on a separate sheet if there is 

not enough space on this form. 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Signed:        Date: 

46



Only complete this next section if you are requesting that your identity is kept 

confidential 

5. In the interests of fairness and natural justice, members who are complained about have 

a right to know who has made the complaint. They also have a right to be provided with a 

summary of the complaint. We are unlikely to withhold your identity or the details of your 

complaint unless you can provide an appropriate reason. 

Please note that requests for confidentiality or requests for suppression of complaint 

details will not automatically be granted. The Monitoring Officer will consider the request 

alongside the substance of your complaint. We will then contact you with the decision. If 

your request for confidentiality is not granted, other than in exceptional circumstances 

which are set out in the next paragraph, we will allow you the option of withdrawing your 

complaint.  

It is important to understand that there can be exceptional circumstances where 

the matter complained about appears to be so serious that an investigation or 

other action will be initiated as you have disclosed, even if you have expressly 

asked us not to do so. 

Please provide us with details of why you believe we should withhold 

your name and/or the details of your complaint: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

47



ANNEX 2 

Protocol for the Independent Person – Eastleigh Borough Council  

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Protocol is to set out the principal ways in which the Council, the 

Monitoring Officer and the Independent Person(s) will interact in relation to the 

assessment of an allegation that a Councillor of Eastleigh Borough Council or a 

Councillor of a Parish Council within the Borough, has failed to comply with the Council’s 

Code of Conduct. 

 

2. Any reference in this Protocol to the Independent Person applies to however many 

Independent Persons the Council has and Independent Persons could also include an 

Independent Person from a neighbouring authority. 

 

3. The Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to appoint at least one Independent Person 

to assist , where necessary, the Monitoring Officer, as a consultee, during the pre-

investigation, investigation, pre-hearing and hearing process.  

 

4. The Borough Council’s Administration Committee has appointed two Independent 

Persons (IP): 

 

IP 1 – appointed 21 October 2013 – 20 October 2022 (extension to appointment of 3 

years agreed by the Administration Committee 21 October 2019) 

IP2 – appointed November 2020- November 2023 

 

5. The role of the Independent Person is set down in legislation (section 28(7) of the 

Localism Act 2011) - ‘Arrangements put in place by the Council must include provision for 

the appointment by the authority of at least one independent person, whose views are to 

be sought, and taken into account, by the authority before it makes its decision on an 

allegation that it has decided to investigate, and in any other such circumstances it 

considers appropriate’.  

 

6. The Independent Person will be considered an office-holder of the Council in accordance 

with the duty under s28(7) of the Localism Act 2011 and will therefore be entitled to be 

covered by the Council’s indemnity insurance provided they act reasonably and within 

the terms of this Protocol. 

 

7. The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Councillors and has agreed 

arrangements for dealing with any allegation that a Borough Councillor or a Member of 

Parish Council within the Borough, has failed to comply with the Council’s Code of 

Conduct. 

Role of Independent Person 

8. The purpose of the Independent Person’s role is to enable the public to have confidence 

in how the Borough Council deals with allegations of misconduct. 

 

9. In carrying out the role, the Independent Person will ensure they will be available for 

consultation at various points in the arrangements for dealing with complaints concerning 

Borough Councillors and or Parish Councillors. 
48



 

10. If the Independent Person has or has had a personal relationship with the complainant or 

the Councillor who is the subject of the complaint, they should advise the Monitoring 

Officer at the earliest opportunity and the Monitoring Officer will consider making a 

request to use the services of an Independent Person from another authority. 

 

11. The Independent Person shall provide an objective and impartial opinion which the 

Monitoring Officer will consider in making the decision. 

 

12. Where a complaint is referred to a sub-committee of the Administration Committee, the 

Independent Person must attend. After all the evidence has been presented the 

Committee will seek the views of the Independent Person before determining whether the 

Councillor breached the Code of Conduct. The Independent Person does not take part in 

the decision-making process of the Committee nor do they vote upon whether the 

complaint is upheld. 

 

13. The sub-committee may seek the views of the Independent Person upon any sanction to 

be imposed. 

 

14.  Where the Independent Person is not available to deal with a particular matter or where 

the Independent Person has a potential conflict of interest, the Council shall appoint 

another Independent Person who shall act in the particular matter. Such Independent 

Person may be an Independent Person appointed by another Authority to act as their 

Independent Person. 

 

15. The Independent Person will be paid an allowance of £600 per year.  

 

Relationship with the Administration Committee 

16. The Monitoring Officer is the principal advisor to the Administration Committee supported 

by the Deputy Monitoring Officer(s) and Officers within Democratic Services. 

 

17. The Independent Person is not a member of the Administration Committee and therefore 

is not part of the formal business of the meeting and cannot vote on any matters put to 

the meeting. 

 

Right of access to documentation  

18. The Independent Person shall have a right of access to such files and other documents 

as are necessary to fulfil their duties and obligations as set out in this protocol, their role 

description and the arrangements adopted from time to time by the Council for dealing 

with Code of Conduct complaints. The Independent Person shall not have a right to 

undertake a roving commission. Normally access to files and other documents will be 

through the Monitoring Officer, Deputy Monitoring Officer or other officer appointed on 

their behalf. 

Duty to declare interest 

19. The Independent Person shall promptly disclose in writing any actual or potential conflict 

of interest that they may have in a matter which has been referred to them. 

 
49



 

 

Register of Members’ Interests and the Seven Principles of Public Life  

20. The Independent Person is not a Councillor, so they are not required to notify and 

register any interests in the Register of Members’ interests. The Independent Person is 

however required to abide by the Seven Principles of Public Life (‘the Nolan Principles’). 

Protecting the independence of the Independent Person 

21. No Councillor or Officer shall do anything which does or is likely to compromise the 

independence of the Independent Person or to otherwise inappropriately interfere in the 

discharge of the Independent Person’s lawful duties. 

Miscellaneous 

22. The Monitoring Officer will ensure that the Independent Person is kept up to date with 

changes to the Code of Conduct, procedures for handling allegations, in legislation, 

national guidance and/or good practice. 

 

23. A further role of the Independent Person arises from the Local Authorities (Standing 

Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (as amended). By amending regulations in 2015, 

there is a prescribed statutory process for disciplining or dismissing an authority’s Head 

of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer. A decision to discipline or 

dismiss must be taken by Full Council which must consider, amongst other things, 

advice, views or recommendations from an independent panel. That panel must include 

at least two Independent Persons appointed under Section 28(7) of the Localism Act 

2011 by the Council or by another local authority. 

 

24. The Independent Person(s) together with the Monitoring Officer and Deputy Monitoring 

Officers will meet at least once a year to discuss Councillor behaviour in a general 

context. 

 

25. This Protocol will be kept under review by the Monitoring Officer and amended where 

necessary, considering legislation, guidance, good practice etc. 

 

 

50

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


Meeting attendance 2021/22 Appendix 2

Admin ACC A&R BHH BIFOHH Cabinet CFH Council ELAC HEWEB HH DMC Licensing P&P

No of meetings 

attended Total Required Attendance % 

Number of meetings held: 4 3 8 3 3 10 4 5 5 3 2 1 8

Councillor:

Airey 4 3 3 8 5 0 23 26 88

Allingham 4 1 1 6 9 67

Asman 3 5 3 2 1 4 18 22 82

Bearder 3 1 1 5 10 50

Bicknell 9 1 5 15 20 75

Bourne 8 4 5 1 18 19 95

Broadhurst 4 3 1 7 15 18 83

Broomfield 3 5 2 1 6 17 19 89

Buckley 4 1 3 0 8 18 44

Campbell 8 5 5 18 18 100

Clarke 3 4 7 10 70

Corben 4 9 5 3 21 22 95

Craig 3 8 4 1 16 19 84

Cross 3 4 0 4 11 17 65

Dean 2 4 0 6 9 67

Dedhia (from 10 February 2022) 1 0 1 2 50

Doguie (until 4 January 2022) 0 2 2 6 33

Duguid 4 3 7 9 78

Garton 4 3 7 8 88

Gomer 4 3 2 8 17 18 94

Grajewski 2 7 2 5 8 24 29 83

Groves 4 4 4 0 8 20 22 91

Holes 8 3 4 15 16 94

House 3 10 5 3 21 22 95

Irish 8 4 5 1 18 19 95

Jurd 3 3 3 9 16 56

Kinloch 4 2 5 11 16 69

Kyrle 7 3 2 12 18 67

Mann 4 5 0 9 11 82

Manning 5 2 4 11 16 69

Marsh 3 2 2 7 10 70

Park 4 8 4 5 21 22 95

Parker-Jones 4 3 5 12 12 100

Pragnell 5 4 3 12 17 71

Pretty 2 3 8 5 3 1 22 26 85

Rich 1 0 1 8 13

Rushton 1 1 1 3 10 30

Tennent 7 4 3 2 16 18 89

Tidridge 3 5 0 8 9 89

Tyson-Payne 3 5 7 15 18 83

Meeting

51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE  

27 June 2022 

COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW 

Report of the Executive Head of Governance (Monitoring Officer) 

 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that the Administration Committee: 
 
(1) agrees to conduct a Community Governance Review of the Parish Council; and 

(2) approves the Terms of Reference and indicative timetable of the Review (appendix 
1).  

 

Summary 
Part 4, Chapter 3, of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
devolves the power to take decisions about matters such as the creation of parishes and 
their electoral arrangements to Local Government and local communities in England. 
 
At their Annual General Meeting on 18 May 2022, Hedge End Town Council resolved that 
Eastleigh Borough Council conducts a Community Governance Review in time for the 
2023 Town Council Elections to better equalise councillor/elector ratios.  
 

Statutory Powers 
 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The content of this report does not directly contribute to the achievement of 
Corporate Plan objectives. However, given population and housing growth, it 
is important time is taken to review the community governance arrangements 
for Parish Councils when requested and ensure they are reflective of the 
identities and interests of the community in that area and effective and 
convenient. 

Introduction 

2. Under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, local 
authorities now have the power to stimulate debate in respect of parish 

53

Agenda Item 7



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

boundaries. It is a review that can take place for the whole, or part of, the 
Borough to consider one or more of the following: 

 Creating, merging, altering or abolishing parishes; 

 The naming of parishes and the style of new parishes; 

 The electoral arrangements for parishes (the ordinary year of election, 
council size, the number of councillors to be elected to the Council, and 
parish warding), and 

 Grouping parishes under a common parish council or de-grouping 
parishes. 

3. The Council is required to ensure that community governance within the area 
under review will be: 

 Reflective of the identities and interests of the community in that area; and 

 Are effective and convenient. 

4. In doing so the community governance review is required to take into account: 

 The impact of community governance arrangements on community 
cohesion; and 

 The size, population and boundaries of a local community or parish. 

5. As the Principal Authority, Eastleigh Borough Council is responsible for 
undertaking community governance reviews.   

6. The last review of Parish Council arrangements within the Borough of 
Eastleigh took place in 2018.  

7. On 18 May 2022, Hedge End Town Council (HETC) resolved: 

To request Eastleigh Borough Council conducts a Community Governance 
Review in time for the 2023 Town Council Elections to better equalise 
councillor/elector ratios. 

Terms of Reference 

8. The Executive Head of Governance (Monitoring Officer), with support from 
key staff, will be responsible for making draft and final recommendations. The 
Council will be required to approve the final recommendations prior to the 
Community Governance Order being made. 

9. A full consultation process will form part of the review, to take full account of 
the views of local people. 

54

https://www.hedgeend-tc.gov.uk/the-council/meetings/full-council/


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

10. This Committee is asked to agree the Terms of Reference and indicative 
timeline (appendix 1). The current ward boundaries for Hedge End Town 
Council are shown in appendix 2.  

11. The Review will be conducted using electoral data taken from the December 
2021 electoral register: 

Parish Ward Electorate – 1 
December 2021 

Hedge End Town 
Council (total 
electorate 16718) 

Berrywood  2023 

Dodwell  640 

Freegrounds 1624 

Shamblehurst 1452  

St Helens 2194 

St Johns 2455 

Station 2689 

Wellstead 1306 

Wildern 2335 

 

Financial Implications 

12. There will be minimal administrative costs relating to any potential changes. 
The costs of staff resources in undertaking this review will be absorbed within 
current staffing budgets.  

Risk Assessment 

13. The Borough Council has a responsibility, under its governance 
arrangements, to ensure that parish councils within the Borough are, in 
electoral terms, structured and organised appropriately, in order that they can 
serve the public need as effectively as possible.  

14. Any recommendations arising from the review will need to be agreed by 
Council in November 2022 ahead of the publication of the electoral register on 
1 December 2022. The Council has 5 months to complete this review and 
consultation periods will be limited to 2-3 weeks as per the draft timetable 
(appendix 1) which may limit responses. Resources and progress will be 
closely monitored by the Executive Head of Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
to ensure the programme remains on track. Other priorities may have to be 
paused or alternative resourcing arrangements identified to ensure that this 
review is effectively progressed.  

55



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

15. When conducting community governance reviews, the Council will ensure that 
all affected residents are given the opportunity to comment and feedback 
using a variety of communication mechanisms to ensure inclusivity and attract 
a diverse mix of opinions reflecting community needs.  

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

16. There are no climate change or environmental implications arising from this 
decision, it is a decision concerned with governance arrangements.  

Conclusion 

17. This Committee is asked to agree to conducting a Community Governance 
Review for Hedge End Town Council, the scope of which is detailed within the 
Terms of Reference (appendix 1). 

 

 

JOANNE CASSAR 
EXECUTIVE HEAD OF GOVERNANCE (MONITORING OFFICER) 

 
Date: 16 June 2022 
Contact Officer: Joanne Cassar  
Tel No: 02380 688015 
e-mail: joanne.cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: one 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* None. 

56



Appendix 1 

Community Governance Review 2022/23 

Terms of Reference (DRAFT) 

Review of Community Governance Arrangements in the Parish of Hedge End in 

accordance with Part 4, Chapter 3 of the Local Government and Public Involvement 

in Health Act 2007.  

The Council is required to have regard to the Guidance on Community Governance 

Reviews issued by the Secretary of State.  

Introduction 

What is a Community Governance Review? 

1. A Community Governance Review is a review of the whole or part of the 
Council’s area to consider one or more of the following: 

 creating, merging, altering or abolishing parishes; 
 the naming of parishes and the style of new parishes; 
 the electoral arrangements for parishes (the ordinary year of election, 

council size (the number of councillors to be elected to council), and 
parish warding); and 

 grouping parishes under a common parish council or de-grouping 
parishes; 

 other types of local arrangements, including parish meetings. 

2. A Community Governance Review is required to take into account: 

 the impact of community governance arrangements on community 
cohesion; and 

 the size, population and boundaries of a local community or parish 

3. The Borough Council will ensure that community governance within the area 
under review will: 

 be reflective of the identities and interests of the community in that area; 
and 

 be effective and convenient. 

4. If the Council is satisfied that the recommendation of a Community 
Governance Review would ensure that community governance within the area 
under review will reflect the identities and interests of the community in that 
area, and is effective and convenient, the Council will make a Community 
Governance Order. 

Why is the Council carrying out this Community Governance Review? 

5. On 18 May 2022, Hedge End Town Council (HETC) resolved: 

To request Eastleigh Borough Council conducts a Community Governance 
Review in time for the 2023 Town Council Elections to better equalise 
councillor/elector ratios. 

57

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/28/part/4
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/28/part/4
https://www.hedgeend-tc.gov.uk/the-council/meetings/full-council/


Appendix 1 

Scope of the Review 

6. The Review will consider the ward boundaries and equalisation of the 
councillor/elector ratio for Hedge End Town Council.  
 

7. The current ward boundaries for Hedge End Town Council are shown in 
appendix 2. 

Consultation 
 How the council proposes to conduct consultations during the Review?  

8. Before making any recommendations or publishing final proposals, the 
Council will consult local government electors for the area under review and 
any other person or body (including a local authority) which appears to the 
Council to have an interest in the review. The Council will therefore: 

 publish a Notice and these Terms of Reference on the Council’s website 
and arrange for copies to be available for public inspection at Eastleigh 
House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN during normal office 
hours; 

 send a copy of the Notice and these Terms of Reference to the Parish 
Clerk  

 seek to arrange for the notice to be published on the parish council 
website(s) and notice boards; and 

 send a copy of the Notice and these Terms of Reference to all local 
Members of Parliament. 

9. Before making any recommendations, the Council will take account of any 
representations received. The Council will publish its recommendations as 
soon as practicable and take such steps as it considers sufficient to ensure 
that persons who may be interested in the Community Governance Review 
are informed of the recommendations and the reasons behind them. 
 

10. The Council will notify each consultee and any other persons or bodies who 
have made written representations of the outcome of the Review. 

Timetable for the Community Governance Review 

11. The Council has to complete a Community Governance Review within twelve 
months from the day on which the Council publishes the Terms of 
Reference.  A Community Governance Review is concluded on the day on 
which the Council publishes the recommendations made by the Community 
Governance Review. 
 

12. Following a decision made at the meeting of Administration Committee on 27 
June 2022, the timetable for the Review is as follows: 
 

 

 

 

 

58



Appendix 1 

Proposed Timetable for Community Governance Review  

Stage  Action  Dates  

Commencement  Council approves the principle of the 
Community Governance Review and 
Terms of Reference  

Administration 
Committee 27 
June 22 

 Terms of Reference published  28 June 2022 

 Preparation for consultation 28 June – 8 July 
22 

Stage One  Consultation with local electors and 
Stakeholders  

11-31 July 2022 – 
for a 3-week 
period 

 Initial submissions invited on future 
arrangements. These are from:  

- Town and Parish Councils  
- Member of Parliament 
- Local groups and interested 

parties such as local 
businesses, local residents’ 
associations, local public and 
voluntary such as schools or 
health bodies  

 

Stage Two  1. Consideration of submissions 
received.  

2. Draft recommendations 
prepared for Administration 
Committee  

August 2022 

Stage Three  Draft recommendations to be 
considered by Administration 
Committee and approved for further 
consideration.  

Special 
Administration 
Committee - 5 
September 2022 
(TBC) 

Stage Four 1. Consultation with Stakeholders 
on draft recommendations 
 

2. Consider the further 
submissions/representations 
and prepare final 
recommendations prepared  

12- 25 September 
2022 
 
26-30 September 
2022 
 
Admin Committee 
10 October 2022 
(TBC) 

Stage Five  Final recommendations to be 
considered by full council with 
resolution to make a Reorganisation 
Order.  

Council 17 
November 2022 

Completion* 
 
*MUST BE BY 1 
DECEMBER 2022 
for publication of 
electoral register 

Reorganisation Order made  
 
 
Update to electoral register ahead of 
publication 1 December 2022 

w/c 21 November 
2022 
 
18 -30 November 
2022 

 

59



This page is intentionally left blank



14/06/2022

Department

Date:

Department:

Scale: 1:24999

© C row n copy r igh tand da tabase r igh ts 2022O rdnance Su rvey (LA100019622 )

Hedge End Town Council

Sta�on

Wellstead

Berrywood

Wildern

Freegrounds

St Helens
St Johns

Dodwell

Shamblehurst

Key:

 Parish Boundary

 Polling District Boundary

61



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Appointment of Independent Remuneration Panel
	Appendix 1_IndependentRemunerationPanelRecruitmentPackFINAL
	Making an application 
	About our Council  
	Our Political make-up 
	The role of the Independent Remuneration Panel
	What exactly is the Panel’s job?
	How many people will be appointed to the Panel?
	What qualifications, skills and experience are required to be a member of the Panel?
	What might disqualify me from being a Panel member? 
	What support would be provided to members of the Panel?
	How often will the Panel have to meet and when and where will meetings be held?
	Will I be able to claim expenses?
	How to find out more
	Disqualification for being a member of the statutory Independent Remuneration Panel

	Appendix 2_IndependentRemunerationPanelTOR

	6 Code of Conduct - Annual Review
	Appendix1CouncillorCodeofConductComplaintProcessandIPprotocol
	Appendix2Councillorattendanceatmeetings202122JC

	7 Community Governance Review 2022/23
	Appendix 1 CommunityGovernanceReview2022ToR
	Appendix 2_HedgeEndTownCouncilParishBoundary


